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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

PETEDGE, INC.
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant
Civil Action No. 1:15ev-13171ADB

V.

YAHEE TECHNOLOGIES CORP.,

* 4 ko ok % % %

Defendant/Counterclaim Plaintiff

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

BURROUGHS, D.J.

Plaintiff PetEdge, Inc. (“PetEdge”), alleges that Defendant Yadeetnologies Corp.
(“Yahee”)is infringing upon its patent entitled “Folding Pet Ramp and Stepsited States
Patent No. 7,621,236 (the 236 Patent”), in violation of 35 U.S.C. §2dHee asserted nine
affirmative defenses and brought a countercli@ina declaratory judgment of invalidity and
non-infringement of thé236 PatentPetEdge moved tdismiss Yahee’s counterclaim pursuant
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and to strilibee’s sixth and seventh affirmative
defenses pursuant to Rule 12(f). [ECF No. 15]. For the reasons explained below, the Court
denies PetEdgemotion to dismiss Yahee’s counterclaim and grRatEdge’s motions to strike
Yahee’s sixth and seventh affirmative defenses.

l. BACKGROUND

The following facts ardrawnfrom the @mplaint. [ECF No. 1]PetEdge is in the
business of designing, sourcing, manufacturing, and distributingiaétd merchandise.
PetEdge invented a folding pet ramp and steps combination apg&gpatusmgsteps) and
owns a patent, the '236 Patent, directed to various embodiments of this appaetidge sells

its pet rampstepsunder its Pet Studio and Guardian Gear brands.
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Yahee is also in the business of selling iedsited merchandise and offers several pet
ramp/steps for sale. Although Yahee offers four distinct motledg,all appear to be the saore
very similar toeach otherYahee’s products compete directly with PetEdgetsramp/steps
products.

PetEdge initiated this action against Yahee on August 17, 2015. [ECF No. 1]. On October
24, 2016, Yahee filed imnswer [ECF No. 9]. Currently before this Court is PetEdge’s motion
to dismiss Yahee’s counterclaim and to strike Yahee’s sixth and seventhatffgmefenses.
[ECF No. 15]. Yahee amended its counterclaim and opposed PetEdge’s motion to dismiss and
motion to strike on November 17, 2016. [ECF Nos. 17-R8{Edge filedts reply to Yahee’s
opposition [ECF No. 23] and an answer to the amended counterclaim [ECF No. 24] on
December 1, 2156.

. PETEDGE’'S MOTION TO DISMISS YAHEE'S COUNTERCLAIM

In its motionto dismissYahee’scounterclaimPetEdgergueghatYaheefailed to meet
thepleadingrequirement®f Rule 8[ECF No. 15]. Yaheerespondedhy amendingts
counterclainto setforth additionalfactualallegations[ECF No. 17]. PetEdgehasnotrenewed
its motionto dismisswith respecto theamendecdtounteclaim.

“It is well settledthatanamendedomplaint supersedes the original complaibaivden

v. William M. Mercer,Inc., 903F. Supp. 212, 2168X. Mass.1995).Becauseraheeamendedts

counterclaimijts original counterclaintis no longer operative Ih re Celexa& LexaproMktg.

& SalesPracticed.itig., 751F. Supp. 2d 277, 28@. Mass.2010)(denyingamotionto dismiss

asmootwherethe complainthatdefendant movetb dismisshadbeenamended)Therefore,

PetEdge’snotionto dismissYahee’soriginal counterclaims deniedasmoot.



1. PETEDGE’'S MOTION TO STRIKE YAHEE'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
PetEdgehasalsomovedto strike Yahee’ssixth andseventhaffirmative defenses
pursuanto FederalRule ofCivil Procedure 12(f)uwhich authorizeghis Courtto “strike from a
pleadinganinsufficientdefenseor anyredundantimmaterial,impertinent,or scandalous
matter.”“Motions to strike under Rule 12(faregenerallydisfavoredandthis Courthas
previouslystatedthatthey ‘should bgrantedonly whenit is beyondcavil thatthedefendant(]

couldprevailon them.”United StatesSECv. Nothern, 400~. Supp. 2d 362, 36D. Mass.

2005) (quotingHoneywellConsumer Prodd$nc. v. Windmere Corp., 99B. Supp. 22, 24D.

Mass.1998)).“A plaintiff mayprevailon a Rulel2(f) motionwhere'it clearlyappearshatthe
plaintiff would succeedlespiteanystateof factswhich could be proveth support ofdefense.”

Id. (quotingEDIC v. Gladstone, 4&. Supp. 2d 81, 88D. Mass.1999)).“Even whentechnically

appropriate, motiont® strikearenottypically grantedabsenta showing of prejudict the

moving party.”United Statesv. Sampson, 82B. Supp. 2d 202, 24(D. Mass.2011).“[A]

motionto strikewill not begrantedf theinsufficiency of thedefensas notclearlyapparentpr
if it raisedactualissueghatshould beleterminedn ahearingon themerits.” Nothern, 400.

Supp. 2dat 364 (quoting 5CharlesAlan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, FederalPractice&

Procedure 8§ 138ht421-22(3d ed.2004)).
a. PetEdge’sMotion to Strike Yahee’sSeventhAffirmative Defense

Yahee’sseventhaffirmative defenseeads;n full:

Uponinformationandbelief, and aslikely will be supportedby evidenceafter a
reasonablepportunity forfurther investigationand discovery the '236Patentis
unenforceablebecauseduring their prosecution, thdJnited StatesPatentand
TrademarkOffice was not fully advisedof all materialfactsand prior art, which
informationif disclosedvould havecausedheapplicationto berejected.

[ECFNo. 9at5]. PetEdgeargueghatYahee’saffirmative defensellegesfraudandis,



therefore subjectto theheightenegleadingstandard®f FederalRule ofCivil Procedur®(b).
[ECF No. 16at9]. Yaheedenieghatit is allegingfraud on thepart of PetEdgebutinstead
assertghatif theUnited StatesPatentand TrademarkOffice (“"USPTQO”) hadreviewedUnited
StatedPatentNo. 1,791,33(the 330 Patent”),it would haveaejectedPetEdge’s236 Patent.
[ECF No. 18at 3]. Yaheespecificallystateghatit “is notallegingorimplying thatPetEdge
failed to disclosematerialinformationto the[USPTO].” Id.

Unlesstheseventhaffirmative defensellegesfraudulent conductoweverthe Couris
unableto discernhowit differs from the otheidefensesssertedy Yahee Forexample the
seventhaffirmative defensemaybe construedo claim thatthe '236Patentwasanticipatedoy
the '330Patent.'A patentis anticipatedunder 8§ 102f ‘(a) theinventionwasknown orusedby
othersin this country, orpatented . . beforethe inventiorthereofby theapplicantfor patent or
(b) the inventionwaspatentedr describedin aprintedpublicationin this or aforeigncountry or
in the public use or osalein this country,morethanoneyearprior to thedateof theapplication

for patentin theUnited States. . ..”” Minn. Mining & Mfg. Co. v.Chemquelnc., 303 F.3d

1294, 1301 Fed.Cir. 2002)(citing 35 U.S.C. 8§ 102)Yahee’sthird affirmative defense

however alreadyassertghatthe '236Patents invalid for failure to complywith the
requirementspecifiedin 35 U.S.C. § 102. Thu) theextentYaheeargueghatthe '236Patent
wasanticipatedandthereforeinvalid, theseventhaffirmative defensas “redundant” of thehird
affirmativedefenseFed.R. Civ. P.12(f). Likewise,if Yaheeintended theseventhaffirmative
defensdo raisedefense®f invalidity, uncleanhands, non-infringement, or prosecution history
estoppelthesedefensesrealsoraisedelsewheren its answe{ECF No. 9], andarealso
properlystruckas“redundant” under Rul&2(f).

SinceYaheehasprovided no othelegalbasisfor claimingthatthe '236Patentis



“unenforceable,” th€ourtinterpres Yahee’sseventhaffirmative defensasintendingto allege
aninequitable conduaefensedespiteYahee’sassertiorthatit did not intendo asserfraud
“The substantiveelementsof inequitable condudre:(1) anindividual associateavith thefiling
andprosecution of a pateapplicationmadean affirmative misrepresentationf amaterialfact,
failed to disclosematerialinformation, or submted falsematerialinformation;and(2) the

individual didsowith aspecificintentto deceivethePTO.” ExergenCorp. v.Wal-Mart Stores,

Inc., 575 F.3d 1312, 1327 n(Bed.Cir. 2009).

An inequitable conduatefensemustsatisfythe requirement®r allegingfraud setforth
in FederalRule ofCivil Proceduré®(b).Id. at 1326.In determining‘whetherinequitable conduct
hasbeenpleadedwith particularityunder Rulé@(b),” thelaw of theFederalCircuit applies.ld.
“The [FederalCircuit] [has]tightenedthe inequitable conduct [pleadingfandardo ensurehat
thedefensas sustainednly in egregiousircumstanceandto discouraggartiesfrom usingit

asamerelitigation tacticin gardenvarietycases.’PetEdgelnc. v. FortressSecureSols.,LLC,

No. 15¢cv-11988FDS 2016WL 407065at*3 (D. Mass.Feb.2, 2016) (quoting Lexington

Luminancel LC v. OsramSylvanialnc., 972F. Supp. 2d 88, 9(D. Mass.2013))(alterationsn

original).
Rule 9(b)requiresthat“[i |n all avermentsof fraud or mistake,the circumstances
constitutingfraud or mistake shall be statedwith particularity.” “[lJnequitable
conductwhile a broadeconcepthanfraud, must b@ledwith particularity” under
Rule 9(b). A pleadingthat simply aversthe substantivelementsof inequitable
conduct, withoutsettingforth the particularizedfactual basesfor the allegation,
does nosatisfyRule9(b).
Exergen 575 F.3dat 1326—27alterationdn original) (internalcitationsomitted (quoting Rule
9(b)). Thus,“in pleading inequitable conduict patentcasesRule 9(b)requiresdentificationof
the specificwho, what,when,where,andhow of thematerialmisrepresentatioar omission

committedbeforethePTO.” Id. at 1327.



Here,Yaheemerelyassertshatif the '330Patenthadbeendisclosedo theUSPTO
duringits prosecution of the '23Ratentjt would haverejectedPetEdge’patentapplication.
This assertiorfails to meettheparticularityrequirement®f Rule 9(b)andExergen Specifically,
Yaheehas failed to identify aspecificindividual within the PetEdgecorporationwho knew of
the undisclosed priartandwho withheldthe priorartwith thespecificintentto deceivethe
USPTO.Exergen 575F.3dat 1327 n.3ForthesereasonsPetEdge’snotionto strike Yahee’s
seventhaffirmative defensas granted.

b. PetEdge’sMotion to Strike Yahee’sSixth Affirmative Defense

Yahee’ssixth affirmative defenseeadsjn full: “T heclaimsof the '236Patentare
unenforceablen whole orin part,under the doctrine afncleanhands and/or estoppe[ECF
No. 9 at4]. PetEdgeagainargueghatYahee’saffirmative defenseallegesfraudandis,
therefore subjectto theheightenegleadingstandard®f FederalRule ofCivil Proceduré®(b).
[ECFNo. 16at7]. Yaheeresponddy requestinghatthis Court followJudgeSaylor’sprior
ruling in FortressejectingPetEdge’sargumenthatanuncleanhands defensequirespleading
with particularitypursuanto Rule9(b).[ECF No. 18 at 4-5].

Unlike thedefendantn Fortresswho raisedtheaffirmative defense¢hatPetEdge’s

claims were“barredby the doctrine otincleanhands,” 2018VL 407065at*1, Yaheehas
raisedtheaffirmative defensehatthe '236Patent is “unenforceable . . . under the doctrine of
uncleanhands and/or estoppe|ECF No. 9 at 4]. Thesearetwo materiallydifferentaffirmative
defenses:[T]heremediedor litigation misconducdiffer from theremediedor misconducin
acquisitionof a propertyright. While inequitable conduct before tR Orenderghepatent
unenforceabléy anyparty,theuncleanhands doctrinearsonly the offendingparty.” Aptix

Corp. v. QuickturrDesignSys, Inc., 269 F.3d 1369, 137@ed.Cir. 2001);seealsoTherasense,




Inc. v. Bectron,DickinsonandCo., 649 F.3d 1276, 1287-fHed.Cir. 2011) (emedyfor a

finding of uncleanhandds dismissalof instantsuit while leavingpatentenforceableagainst
otherpartieswhereagemedyfor a finding ofinequitableconducts to hold patent
unenforceable By assertinghat the '236Patents “unenforceable . . under the doctrine of
uncleanhands,JECF No. 9at 4], Yaheehasassertedhat PetEdgeengagedn “inequitable
conduct during thacquisitionof thepatent”sufficientto allow this Courtto “declarethepatent
unenforceable,id.

As discusseabove anaffirmative defenseof inequitable conduct must be plhetth the
particularityrequiredby Rule9(b). Exergen 575 F.3dat 1326.This “requiresidentificationof
thespecificwho, what,when,where,andhow of thematerialmisrepresentationor omission
committedbeforethePTO.” Id. at 1327.Here,Yaheés conclusoryassertiorthatpatents
unenforceabléails to meettheparticularityrequirement®f Rule 9(b)JandExergen Yaheehas
failedto identify aspecificindividual within the PetEdge corporatiavho committed
misconducbeforethe USPTOwith thespecificintentto deceivethe USPTO.Exergen 575 F.3d
at 1327 n.3ForthesereasonsPetEdge’snotionto strike Yahee’ssixth affirmative defensas
granted:

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the CO&NIES as mooPetEdge’s motion to dismiss

Yahee’s counterclaim arf@RANTS PetEdge’anotions to strike Yahee’s sixth and seventh

affirmative defense§ECF No. 15].

! To the extent that Yahee sought to assert that PetEdgéiss are barred by the doctrine of
unclean hands, as opposed to contending thaiatket is unenforceable under the doctrine of
unclean hands, Yahee is granted leave to amend its answer accordingly.
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SO ORDERED.

May 2, 2017 /sl Allison D. Burroughs
ALLISON D. BURROUGHS
DISTRICT JUDGE




